1995

Victor Ogden, Angie Ogden v. IB Printing Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal brought pursuant to Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure; which provides, in part, that an appeal may be taken from a District Court to an appropriate Appellate Court from all final orders. Jurisdiction before this Court is further based upon the fact that the Utah Court of Appeals does not have mandatory statutory jurisdiction over this appeal; nor has this matter, to the knowledge of appellants, been assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-2a-3, 1953 as amended.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The appellant in this case is raising three (3) issues:

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT HAD BEFORE IT SUFFICIENT CREDIBLE FACTS, WHICH ARE DEEMED ADMITTED PURSUANT TO A MOTION TO DISMISS, TO PRECLUDE THE GRANTING OF THE MOTION TO DISMISS, OR A SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Standard of Appellate Review and Supporting Authority:

This Court, in the case of Demond v. FHP, 849 P.2d 598, 599 (Utah 1993) ruled it will uphold the granting of a motion to dismiss, "only where it appears that the Plaintiff or Plaintiffs would not be entitled to relief under the facts alleged or under any state of facts they could prove to support their claim." The court continued, " We accept the facts as alleged in the complaint as true and consider the facts in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff." Whether the motion to dismiss was properly granted is a question of law which is reviewed for correctness. See St. Benedict's Dev. Co. v. St. Benedict's Hospital, 811 P.2d 194, 196 (Utah 1991). Appellants believe that under a correctness standard, the reviewing court should give no deference to the trial court's finding of fact or application of law, but should resolve the issue de novo from the record before it.

A substantially similar standard is applied to a motion to dismiss treated as a motion for summary judgment when matters outside the pleadings are, or may be, considered. See Lynn v. Lynch, 665 P.2d 1276, 1278 (Utah 1983); Thayne v. Beneficial Utah, Inc., 874 P.2d 120, 124 (Utah 1994).

Citation to Record showing preservation of issue: Complaint of Plaintiffs, particularly paragraphs 2, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11. [Record on Appeal ("ROA"), pgs. 1-20]; Affidavit of Victor Ogden [ROA pgs. 87 to 96]; Memorandum of Plaintiffs' in Opposition

to Motion to Dismiss [ROA pgs. 70 to 86]; Plaintiffs' Informal Petition for Reconsideration [ROA pgs. 114-124].

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED MANIFEST AND REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS BY APPARENTLY EXCLUDING FROM ITS CONSIDERATION MATERIAL FACTS, AND BY MISSTATING OTHER MATERIAL FACTS.

Standard of Appellate Review and Supporting Authority:

In Colman v. Utah State Land Bd., 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990), this Court held dismissal is a severe measure and should be granted only if there are no state of facts supporting the claim. Here, the court could only fail to find supporting facts for exercising jurisdiction over the defendants by consciously excluding consideration of the imputed "facts" as stated in the complaint and the affidavit of Mr. Ogden. See prior authority as to "review for correctness" standard to be applied.

Citation to Record: See above.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRORED IN THE LEGAL APPLICATION OF THE FORUM NON CONVENIENS DOCTRINE IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT.

Standard of Appellate Review and Supporting Authority:

Presuming this Court does not summarily remand to the trial court for failure to consider necessary and relevant jurisdictional facts as outlined above, plaintiffs maintain the defendants would not meet the tests for an equitable dismissal under the forum non conveniens doctrine. Utah law on forum non conveniens is almost exclusively contained in the case of Summa Corporation v. Laneer Industries, Inc., 559 P.2d 544, 546 (Utah 1977).

In Summa, this Court held that the doctrine of forum non conveniens should be applied with "great caution" and only under "compelling circumstances" when it was clear that the interests or rights of non-resident defendants would be substantially impaired in proceeding. In this case, there has been no such showing or finding of impairment. It is apparently a matter of first impression before the court as to whether the Summa doctrine is not subsumed and incorporated in the long arm statute "tests" for insuring "fair play" and "substantial justice." Because the doctrine involves dismissal the review standard should be one of "review for correctness" as annotated above.

Citation to Record: Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss, particularly pgs. 11-12, [ROA pgs. 75-76]; Plaintiffs' Informal Petition for Reconsideration; particularly pgs. 3-4. [ROA pgs. 114-124].

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES OR RULES

Appellants do not believe that there are any determinative statutes in this case, but believe the Court will need to review the Utah Long Arm Statute, U C A § 78-27-22 et. seq; and, particularly, § 78-27-24 of the Act. Appellants would also maintain that URCP,

Rule 12(b) and, URCP Rule 56, by implication and reference, may be determinative of some or all of the issues presented in this proceeding.

STATEMENT OF CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

On August 5, 1994, the Ogdens commenced this case by filing a Complaint in the Third District Court, in and for Tooele County, State of Utah, alleging that Gary Richards, Mary Richards, Michelle Richards and Ronald Richards (hereinafter collectively referred to as "the Richards"), in an individual capacity and acting as participants in the IB Printing Company (hereinafter "IB") had breached a business agreement with the Ogdens resulting in substantial damages to the Ogdens.

Specifically, the Ogdens alleged as to the Richards and IB as follows:

- (i) That the Richards had breached a specific contractual agreement to return investment capital to the Ogdens as earlier agreed, plus granting to them a twenty-five percent (25%) interest in the IB Printing business for the Ogdens' contribution of all initial capitalization and various start-up services and expertise.
- (ii) Alternatively, that the Ogdens were damaged as alleged above, but were entitled to relief under a theory of partnership by estoppel.
- (iii) Alternatively, that the Ogdens were entitled to recovery against the Richards under a doctrine of contract implied-in-law or fact arising out of the failure of the Richards to return the agreed upon capital and interest to the Ogdens and failing to grant them any interest in the company.
- (iv) For additional and resulting damages from alleged fraud, conversion and mismanagement by the Richards in the operation of the IB business.

- (v) A special claim for equitable relief requesting the trial court to order the return of all of the capital equipment from the Richards to the Ogdens upon the basis that monetary damages would not adequately protect the Ogdens from ongoing losses and damages in this proceeding and that the printing equipment was not being employed in the business.

On January 10, 1995, the Court entered a Minute Entry denying defendants' Request for Evidentiary Hearing and granting defendants' Motion to Dismiss upon the apparent basis of lack of sufficient contacts by defendants with the forum jurisdiction; and, alternatively, under a forum non conveniens doctrine.

Subsequently, on January 16, 1995, counsel for the Ogdens filed an informal memorandum by letter requesting reconsideration by the Court of its dismissal based upon the allegation that the Court had supported its Memorandum Decision from facts which were disputed or in error from the Affidavits before the Court and asking the Court to informally amend or rescind its prior ruling.

On January 24, 1995, the Court again entered a Minute Entry affirming its decision to Dismiss, apparently more specifically limiting the basis of its ruling to the equitable doctrine of forum non conveniens. On or about February 23, 1995, the Court entered a formal Order affirming its earlier Order of Dismissal. The Ogdens then perfected an Appeal from both the Order of Dismissal and the subsequent Order Affirming Dismissal as filed with the Third District Court on March 16, 1995 and filed a cash cost bond on appeal on or about such date.

B. Essential Course of Proceedings.

(1) On August 5, 1994, plaintiffs caused their counsel of record to file a Complaint in this proceeding, [ROA, pgs. 0 to 20].

(2) Defendants were personally served in the State of Nevada by a Nevada Process Server with Return of Service filed with this Court, [ROA pgs. 40 to 45].

(3) The Richards and IB Printing filed a Motion to Dismiss by their present counsel of record, Mr. Randy S. Ludlow, Esq., with the Third District Court on September 27, 1994, essentially alleging a lack of personal jurisdiction and the forum non conveniens defense, [ROA pgs. 49 to 50].

(4) The Motion to Dismiss of defendants was supported by a Memorandum in Support, [ROA pgs. 51 to 62].

(5) The defendants also filed an Affidavit by Mr. Gary Richards, one of the named defendants, in support of their Motion to Dismiss on or about September 27, 1994, [ROA pgs. 63 to 69].

(6) The Ogdens then filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss with Exhibits, dated September 29, 1994 and filed October 4, 1994, [ROA pgs. 70 to 86].

(7) The plaintiffs further filed a Affidavit of Victor Ogden in Support of their Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, filed October 4, 1994, [ROA pgs. 87 to 96].

(8) On or about October 6, 1994, the Richards and IB Printing filed a Request for Evidentiary Hearing on the issues before the Trial Court, [ROA pgs. 99 to 100].

(9) On October 11, 1994, the Ogdens filed a brief Memorandum in Opposition to Evidentiary Hearing, [ROA pgs. 101 to 103].

(10) The Ogdens then filed a Notice to Submit for Decision on October 20, 1995, [ROA pgs. 104 to 105].

(11) At some point between approximately October 20, 1994 and a hearing in this matter on December 6, 1994, Judge Rokich was substituted as the Trial Judge for Judge Fuchs. The Ogdens do not believe that there is any official entry or notice contained in the record on appeal as to the substitution of Trial Judges, but believe that both parties were informally notified of this reassignment by the Clerk of the Court.

(12) On or about December 6, 1994, Judge Rokich requested a pre-trial scheduling conference before the Court. This conference was, by stipulation of the parties, continued to January 3, 1995, [ROA pgs. 108 to 110].

(13) The Ogdens have determined that no transcript record was made of the January 3, 1995 pre-trial conference before Judge Rokich. The Ogdens assert that Judge Rokich briefly heard informal arguments of both parties pertaining to the pending motions. The Ogdens further assert that Judge Rokich asserted that he would review the matter and get back to the parties when next in Salt Lake City, and that he would, most likely, require further argument pertaining to the issues.

(14) Appellants reasonably believed, from the January 3, 1995 hearing, that Judge Rokich intended to schedule a further hearing for formal arguments on the issues.

(15) The Ogdens next received a Minute Entry entered January 10, 1995 indicating the Court had denied the Richards' and IB's Request for Evidentiary Hearing,

but had granted the defendants' Motion to Dismiss upon the basis that the defendants' contacts with Utah were minimal, and that the most convenient forum to hear this case would be Nevada, [ROA pgs. 111 to 113].

(16) The Court then had counsel for Richards and IB prepare a formal Order, which was entered by the Court, on the 8th day of March, 1995. Appellants have no explanation as to why the Order Affirming the Dismissal was formally entered by the Court prior to the entry of the Order of Dismissal (February 23, 1995), but assumes that such was merely a clerical problem of finding, locating and entering the proper Orders in chronological sequence by the Clerk's office, [ROA pgs. 127 to 128; 129 to 131].

(17) Promptly after receiving the Minute Entry of Dismissal from Judge Rokich, counsel for Ogdens elected on January 16, 1995 to file an informal letter petition requesting the trial judge to reconsider the Minute Entry based upon the assertion by counsel for Ogdens that the Minute Entry was based upon certain factual errors which were undisputed and was also premised upon other controverted facts which should have been construed in favor of the Ogdens. A copy of this informal petition dated January 16, 1995 and filed with the Court on January 24, 1995 is made a part of the Record on Appeal, [ROA pgs. 114 to 124].

(18) The Court, on January 23, 1995, entered a Minute Entry affirming its earlier decision to dismiss plaintiffs' Complaint, without prejudice, based upon the allegations that plaintiffs' had apparently participated in an incorporation of the IB business in Nevada, and that there was a sufficient finding that the Utah forum was a forum non conveniens, [ROA pg. 125].

(19) The Minute Entry of the trial judge affirming dismissal was incorporated in a formal Order Affirming Dismissal signed and entered by the Court on February 23, 1995, [ROA pgs. 126 to 128].

(20) The Ogdens then perfected and filed of record with this Court, a Notice of Appeal on March 16, 1995 and accompanied by a Notice of Filing Cost Bond on Appeal, [ROA pgs. 132 to 145].

(21) The Ogdens then perfected and filed with the above Court a Motion for Summary Disposition on or about April 14, 1995, (Appellate Court Records).

(22) This Court then issued an Order on March 31, 1995 deferring a ruling on Appellants Motion for Summary Disposition and requesting the parties to proceed with the briefing of issues, (Appellate Court Record).

C. Disposition by the Court.

The foregoing statement of Course of Proceedings outlines all of the material procedures and judicial facts in this case. At no time was there ever any hearing or trial of the issues. The Court ultimately entered a final Order of Dismissal from which an Appeal was properly perfected, as outlined above.

D. Relevant Facts.

(1) The Ogdens contend that in September through October of 1993, they discussed and initiated a joint venture or contract arrangement with various members of the Richards family, who are named as the defendants/appellees in this action, to establish a printing business and outlet in the City of Wendover, County of Tooele, State of Utah, to be known as "IB Printing". IB Printing then engaged in an active

printing business in Utah from approximately the latter part of 1993 up to and approximately March or April of 1994. During all of this period, the Ogdens were and remained Utah residents. See attached Affidavit of Victor Ogden in Opposition to Defendants Motion to Dismiss ("Aff. O.") ¶'s 1, 4 and 28 - [ROA pgs. 95 to 96 and 89].

(2) The Ogdens contend that the initial determination by all parties was that the IB Printing business would be set-up in Tooele County, Utah and that initial discussion centered around the actual printing business being a Utah business entity. Aff. O. ¶ 5 - [ROA pg. 95].

(3) The Ogdens maintain that a leasehold for the printing business was obtained in the City of Wendover, Utah and IB obtained a business license from the City of Wendover, State of Utah, for the operation of the IB Printing business. Aff. O. ¶'s 6 & 13 - [ROA pgs. 93 to 95].

(4) The Ogdens invested approximately Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$30,000.00) in all aspects of the start-up of the IB business, primarily through the contribution of printing equipment, financed for purchase by the Ogdens, as well as improvements to the leasehold. In all events, the Ogdens were the sole capital contributors to the initial business up to, and including, the initiation of litigation in this matter. Aff. O. ¶'s 9 & 10 - [ROA pg. 94].

(5) The Ogdens maintain their understanding of the contractual relationship with the Richards family was that the Ogdens would retain ownership in all of the contributed capital and equipment of the IB Printing business until they were repaid for such contribution after the first year of operations. Thereafter, the Ogdens

contend that they understood they would own a twenty five percent (25%) residual interest in the IB Printing business and they would provide continuing consulting as needed. Aff. O. ¶ 15 - [ROA pg. 93]. See particularly Exhibit A attached to the Ogden Affidavit as the only extent writing proffered by the Richards. [ROA pg. 87].

(6) The Ogdens maintain that at no time incident to the start-up of the joint venture business was there any discussion about the formation of a Nevada corporation to operate the business, nor the placement of the printing business within the State of Nevada. It was discussed and agreed that the products of the business would primarily be sold as advertising supplements to casinos located in Wendover, Nevada, but that the business would be operated from its original site selection and leasehold in Wendover, Utah. Aff. O. ¶'s 16, 28 & 29 - [ROA pgs. 89 to 93].

(7) The Ogdens admit that in approximately February 1994, a Nevada corporation by the name of IB Printing, Inc. was formed to conduct the day to day business of the printing operation. The Ogdens maintain that they understood such Nevada corporation, as suggested and promoted by the Richards family, was merely to be an operating entity to conduct day-to-day affairs and operations of the IB Printing business; but, at no time, was it suggested, implied, recommended or understood that such entity would "own" the business assets or substitute itself for the contract or partnership relationship of the parties as to the division and return of the original capital as previously agreed. Aff. O. ¶'s 18 - 20 - [ROA pgs. 91 to 92].

(8) At no time did the Ogdens ever agree to the transfer of their capital, assets or contributions to IB Printing, Inc. as the "operating corporation" which was

formed, nor have the Ogdens ever consented to the removal of such capital assets from the jurisdiction to the State of Nevada as currently occurred. Aff. O. ¶'s 7 & 14, *ibid* ¶'s 18 - 20 - [ROA pgs. 91 to 92].

(9) Victor Ogden admits, based upon the foregoing factual recitals, that he was to be named as a director of the Nevada corporation, but did not become a shareholder, nor did he ever have any understanding that he would be an active officer or engage in any day-to-day management of such corporate entity, the same was to be handled by the Richards family, pursuant to prior agreement, as the active managers/operators of the IB Printing business. Aff. O. ¶'s 19 & 20 - [ROA pgs. 91 to 92].

(10) The Ogdens now contend that the IB Printing corporation was never properly organized. Victor Ogden, as a member of the board, had no involvement in any Organizational Meetings, nor was ever presented with any Organizational Minutes for review or signature, nor did there ever occur any proposal, to his knowledge, to transfer the capital assets of IB Printing to the corporation upon any terms. Aff. O. ¶ 7, 22, 23 & 26 - [ROA pgs. 90 to 91 and 95].

(11) By early May 1994, the Ogdens and the Richards were unable to resolve their growing differences over what the Ogdens characterized as the failure to conduct the printing business in a workmanlike and proper manner, the alleged failure of the Richards to provide any accounting concerning the proper return of capital contributions, and a growing concern that the Richards would not honor the earlier

agreement and resolution between the parties as to the return of capital and interest. Aff. O. ¶ 27 - [ROA pg. 90].

(12) The Ogdens contend that all investments, improvements and other business dealings related to the formation and initiation of the printing activities of IB occurred exclusively in Wendover, Utah. Aff. O. ¶ 29 - [ROA pg. 29].

(13) The Ogdens were informed by the Richards that they were moving the IB Printing equipment and business *with or without* the consent of the appellants, to a Nevada site in Wendover, Nevada in approximately May of 1994. See plaintiffs' Complaint ¶'s 31 & 32 and Affidavit of Gary Richards ¶ 8 in which he admitted moving the equipment to Wendover, Nevada in May of 1994 - [ROA pgs. 13 and 14 as to Plaintiffs' Complaint; and pg. 67 as to Affidavit of Gary Richards].

(14) The Ogdens attempted to negotiate some form of settlement from May into late July of 1994 after retaining the services of their present legal counsel, but were unable to effect any settlement. A final settlement meeting occurred between the parties at the Richards home in Wendover, Nevada in late July 1994. No record reflecting such negotiations or meetings are on file.

(15) The Ogdens then made the decision, based upon the Richards' statements, that the Richards were not going to return the capital equipment and that it was necessary for them to proceed with the present litigation. At or about this time the Richards also indicated to the Ogdens their intent to potentially proceed with litigation to resolve the differences of the parties. No part of the record would affirm these discussions between the parties in July 1994.

(16) On or about August 18, 1994, the Ogdens were served with a Complaint filed by the Richards family and IB Printing in the Fourth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada in and for Elko County alleging *inter alia* that Victor Ogden had breached the agreement to go forward with the corporation and caused other damages to IB Printing and the Richards family in the amount of approximately \$10,000.00, or as otherwise proven. This action was styled as Gary Richards, Michelle Richards, Donald D. Richards, Mary Richards and IB Printing, Inc. v. Victor Ogden and was filed on or about July 27, 1994. A true and correct copy of this Nevada action is attached hereto and incorporated by this reference as part of the Addendum. See also, Memorandum of Appellants in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss ¶ 18 - [ROA pg. 81].

(17) Concurrently to the foregoing proceeding, Victor Ogden was proceeding forward with the preparation of the filing of his own Complaint (of record in this proceeding) against the Richards family in Tooele County, Utah. This Complaint was filed on August 5, 1994. Service of this complaint was completed upon the defendants on August 12, 1994 in Elko County, City of Wendover, State of Nevada. See Complaint of plaintiffs' and Return of Service - [ROA pgs. 1 to 20 for Complaint and pgs. 40 through 48 for Returns of Service].

(18) On September 23, 1994 the Richards family and IB Printing, through their present counsel of record, filed a Motion to dismiss the Ogdens' action in the Third District Court in and for Tooele County, Utah - [ROA pgs. 49 to 50].

(19) The Ogdens have not filed to date a responsive pleading to the Complaint pending in the County of Elko, State of Nevada, based upon an informal

agreement for a continuance to the defendants to file a responsive pleading in that forum between Nevada counsel for the Ogdens and Nevada counsel for the Richards family and IB Printing, Inc. The Ogdens would further assert their understanding of the reasons for the continuance, in part, was that the Richards were going to voluntarily produce some essential records related to the formation of IB Printing, Inc. which have never been produced to date. No formal portion of the Record on Appeal reflects this informal understanding, however, various correspondence between counsel upon which this understanding was based are incorporated as part of the Addendum.

(20) The Ogdens would contest the jurisdictions of the State of Nevada over them incident to their relations with the Richards family. This assertion is stated by appellants herein as a jurisdictional fact.

(21) Under the preceding Statement of the Case, the Ogdens have set-out with particularity the treatment of the Motion to Dismiss filed by the Richards family within the State of Utah, the apparent underlying rationale of the Court in reaching its decision to Dismiss, and the other facts surrounding the Dismissal and subsequent perfection of this appeal. The Ogdens incorporate, by this reference, these prior references and citations to the Record on Appeal from the Statement of the Case.

(22) The Ogdens do not believe that the formal Order of Dismissal or Order Affirming Dismissal essentially adds any material to the Minute Entries and the same are not attached as an Addendum, but constitute part of the Record on Appeal, as previously cited.

(23) As previously stated, no transcript of any proceeding before the Court was maintained. The Ogdens believe that the foregoing fully and adequately sets out the relevant facts pertaining to this proceeding.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Ogdens will argue, and support more particularity below, the following essential errors they believe were committed by the trial court in dismissing their pending action against the Richards and IB Printing:

(1) The trial court first erred by failing to consider in its decision process the material factual issues presented by the pleadings and the Affidavits of the parties. Any fair reading of these materials should have shown a *prima facie* basis for the exercise of jurisdiction over the defendants because of their significant contacts with the forum State of Utah. The trial court was required to apply a standard in the dismissal of an action wherein it should have indulged all disputed material factual issues in favor of the parties being moved against, the Ogdens. In point of fact, the Ogdens believe the record will substantiate that the trial court not only did not construe disputed material facts in favor of the Ogdens, but failed to recognize and weigh any material facts pertaining to the jurisdictional issues.

(2) The trial court committed reversible and manifest error by reaching conclusions in its memorandum decision dismissing plaintiffs' complaint which were, in some instances, in conflict with the undisputed facts before the Court; and, in other instances, failed to properly recite disputed issues of fact in favor of the party being moved against, the Ogdens.

(3) Even if the trial court were to have properly viewed all of the evidence, the defendants have not met the threshold requirements for establishing the basis for a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction under the doctrine of forum non conveniens.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT HAD BEFORE IT SUFFICIENT CREDIBLE FACTS, WHICH ARE DEEMED ADMITTED PURSUANT TO THE GRANTING OF THE MOTION TO DISMISS PROCEEDING, TO PRECLUDE A MOTION TO DISMISS, OR A SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

In the recent case of Atiya v. Salt Lake County, 852 P.2d 1007, 1008 (Ut. App. 1993), the Court reiterated Utah case law that on appeal from a trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under URCP, Rule 12, factual allegations in a plaintiff's complaint must be deemed as true. This Court has further stated all reasonable inferences drawn from the complaint must be construed in favor of the party moved against, see Mounteer v. Utah Power and Light Co., 823 P.2d 1055, 1058 (Utah 1991). Our Court of Appeals in Anderson v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 841 P.2d 742, 744 (Ut. App. 1992) further said such allegations and all reasonable inferences drawn from them must be "liberally" construed in favor or the Plaintiff.

In the case of Lynn v. Lynch, 665 P.2d 1276, 1278 (Utah 1983), this court provided that in any Motion to Dismiss, based upon Rule 12(b), if matters outside of the pleadings may be considered by the trial court and are not specifically excluded, then the motion to dismiss should be treated, in substance, as one for summary judgment. It appears

this Court in Lynn v. Lynch, supra., was extending this doctrine not only to motions to dismiss for "failure to state a cause of action" under Rule 12(b)(6), but to other Rule 12(b) motions as well. See also Thayne v. Beneficial Utah, Inc., supra. 874 P.2d at 124. Under the summary judgment standards when matters outside the pleadings are considered in any motion to dismiss both the allegations of the complaint and the matters outside the pleadings should be construed in a light most favorable to the party being moved against, as well as all reasonable inferences derived therefrom.

Under the present state of the record, there appears to be a clear showing that the trial judge did not properly consider material jurisdictional issues which would show, at least *prima facially* from the pleadings and the affidavits, that the Richards had submitted personally and generally to the jurisdiction of the State of Utah. Selectively, plaintiffs would assert that the following factual issues presented by the complaint and the affidavit of Victor Ogden were not considered by the Court, or were improperly stated:

1. The trial court incorrectly stated in its initial Memorandum Decision that the IB Printing Company business had its principal place of business within the State of Nevada. In point of fact, the pleadings and affidavits show that the IB Printing Company was operated by the consent of the parties exclusively in Wendover, **Utah**, and the actual printing business was conducted under such name from approximately November 1993 to early May of 1994 within the State of Utah.

2. It also appears undisputed between the parties that most original organizational efforts for the IB business occurred in the State of Utah, with the physical location and business lease being situated in Wendover, **Utah**.

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