1995

Victor Ogden, Angie Ogden v. IB Printing Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY EXERCISED ITS AUTHORITY

IN DISMISSING THE ACTION.

The true question which must be answered by this court is whether or not the trial court appropriately used its inherent authority in dismissing the action of the plaintiffs/appellants based upon the doctrine of forum of nonconveniens. The trial court had all of the allegations as made by the each of the parties, by affidavits, as to where and what had occurred in this matter. The plaintiffs/appellants tried to state under some basis that they are not incorporators, officers and directors of IB Printing, a Nevada Corporation when the documents as presented to the court

specifically shows a signature of the plaintiff/appellant, Victor Ogden as one of the incorporators. It is incredulous to have Victor Ogden state that he knew nothing of the incorporation or that it wasn't supposed to occur.

The individually named defendants/appellees are all Nevada residents. The principle place of business of the defendant/appellee corporation is Nevada. Ed Walton, an un-named defendant/appellee who is the president of IB Printing, Inc., is a Nevada resident. The corporate meetings occurred in Nevada. The intentions of all concerned were to have this as a Nevada Corporation, doing business in Nevada so that it would not run into any problem manufacturing, printing and having in their possession gambling documents which were to be used to supply the Casinos in Nevada.

The trial court, reviewed the causes of action as were made by the plaintiffs/appellants. The plaintiffs/appellants set forth in paragraph 6 of their complaint that "this cause of action essentially rises out of the investment of monies by plaintiff's in IB Printing and the promise for return for such investment funds from the Richards to plaintiffs." The plaintiffs/appellants first cause of action is for breach of contract. The only contract which could have been entered into would have occurred in Wendover, Nevada, which is where the meetings and agreements would have taken

place. The appellees/defendants all live in Nevada and it is incredulous to think that the appellees would have left their residences, driven across the state line to Wendover, Utah and stood on some street corner making their agreements.

The second cause of action desires to have the dealings between the parties deemed as a partnership or joint venture by estoppel based upon claims by the plaintiffs/appellants that no Articles of Incorporation were ever filed. The evidence specifically shows that Victor Ogden signed the Articles of Incorporation of IB Printing to incorporate the same in the State of Nevada. All activities and formation of IB Printing occurred in Nevada and not in Utah.

Under the third cause of action which plaintiffs/appellants claim to be contract implied by law/unjust enrichment, the monies, accounts of IB Printing and the defendants/appellees as well as the equipment are all located in Nevada.

The fourth cause of action of the appellants/plaintiffs allege fraud, conversion and mis-management. Again, if any of those items occurred they would have occurred in Wendover, Nevada, which is where the meetings took place, agreements were entered and the operation of the business is located.

The fifth cause of action that the plaintiffs/appellants ask for is equitable relief and for a Writ to issue for the return of

the equipment. The equipment is located in Nevada and no Writ out of the Utah court has the authority to require the equipment to be returned back into Utah. Only a Writ out of a Nevada court can seek the return of the equipment.

In viewing all of these matters as well as everyone and everything involved, the trial court came to the conclusion that it should refuse to exercise its jurisdiction. The trial judge has the inherent right to dismiss a cause of action over which it has jurisdiction for the reason that there is a more convenient forum. Mooney v. Denver and R.G.W.R. Co., 118 Utah 307, 221 P.2d 628 (Utah 1950)

The trial court reviewed all of the facts in this matter and made a comparison to the same in determining whether the appropriate forum would be the court in Tooele or the court in Elko County, Nevada. The trial court reviewed the criteria in Summa Corporation v. Lancer Industries, Inc., 559 P.2d 544 (Utah 1977). The trial court here did a balancing test and stated in its Order of Dismissal as follows:

"The most convenient forum to hear this matter is in Nevada. The controversy arose in Nevada; the ease and access to prove or disprove the claims would be the state of Nevada; the costs involved are more readily adjudicated in the state of Nevada; and the availability of witnesses and the enforcement of the judgement would require that the matter be adjudicated in the state of Nevada." See Order of Dismissal dated March 8, 1995.

In addition to this and pursuant to Roskelly and Co. v. Lerco, Inc., 610 P.2d 1307 (Utah 1980), this court stated that you may also look at the economic realities of a case in determining whether or not it is the appropriate forum. In this action it has been noted that one of the major witnesses, Ed Walton, is located in Nevada and all of the other witnesses with the exception of the plaintiffs/appellants are located in Nevada. The trial court could not compel attendance of witnesses who live in Nevada nor could it enforce any judgement because all of the property and assets are located in Nevada.

As stated in Summa,

"the factors are proper to consider are the location of the primary parties, where the fact situation creating the controversy arose, the ease of access to prove, including the availability and costs obtaining witnesses, the enforceability of any judgement that may be obtained; and the burdens that may be imposed upon the court in question in litigating matters which may not be of a local concern. In determining whether such a motion should be granted, the court should analyze those factors in light of the particular fact of each case and balance the considerations..." Id. at 546.

All of these factors resolve the matter in the favor of the defendants/appellees and against the plaintiffs/appellants.

It has been the position of the plaintiffs/appellants that based upon the use of property, i.e., leasing of space at the Wendover Air Force Base for part of the printing operation, that this matter qualified this action to come under Utah's long arm

jurisdiction requirements as contained in the UCA §78-27-24(4). This is a misreading of the law. The mere fact that the defendants/ appellees, one and/or all, may have leased space in the state of Utah, does not give right to the cause of action in this case. No where in plaintiffs/appellants complaint is there any claims dealing with the leased space in Utah. There needs to be a substantial connection with the activity to the cause of action which arose in order for the court to have jurisdiction. Having leased space in Utah is not the activity which gives rise to the alleged cause of action of the plaintiffs/appellants. In Anderson v. American Society of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgeons, 807 P.2d 825 (Utah 1990) the court sets forth a two part inquire before personal jurisdiction can be addressed. This court states:

"First, do...claims arise from one of the activities listed in the statute? And second, are defendant's contacts with this forum sufficient to satisfy the due process clause of the 14th Amendment if the trial court exercises jurisdiction?" Id. at 826.

As noted, the leasing of the space in Wendover, Utah does not give rise to one of the claims in plaintiffs'/appellants' complaint and therefore they cannot use UCA §78-27-24(4) as a basis for granting jurisdiction. Thus the first part of the test fails. See also Roskelly and Co. v. Lerco Inc., 610 P.2d 1307 (Utah 1980); Synergetic by and through Lancer Industries, Inc. v. Marathon Ranching, Co. LTD, 701 P.2d 1106 (Utah 1985); Cate Rental Co., Inc.

v Whalen and Co., 549 P.2d 707 (Utah 1976); Also, Union Ski Company v. Union Plastics Corp., 548 P.2d 1257 (Utah 1976).

In reviewing the second part of the test under due process requirements this court stated:

"Defendants' contacts with Utah must be "such that the maintenance of the suit does not offend notions of fair play and substantial justice."...Defendants' must have "reasonably anticipate[d] being hailed into court" here... they must have "purposely avail[ed]" themselves of the privilege of conducting activities here. The trial court must also balance the "convenience of the parties" and weigh this forums interest in asserting jurisdiction." Anderson, Id. at 828 (Cites omitted)